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I. The geographical frame: 
The Danube-Tisa-Mureș Region

B
etween the beginning of the 14th and the middle of the 16th century, Ternes- 
vâr/Timișoara was one of the most significant towns and castles of the region bor­
dered by the south-eastern part of the Great Hungarian Plain, the rivers Mureș, 
Tisa and the Lower-Danube and historic Transylvania. After the expulsion of the Ottoman 
Turks between 1716 and 1718, this area was organized by the Viennese Court into a bor- 

der/buffer zone with the Latin name banatus Temesiensis or banatus Temesvariensis (German* 
Temescher/Temeswarer Banat, i.e. Temesi bánság in Hungarian). From the early 18th cen­
tury7 onwards, the region was frequently referred to as Bánát/Bánság (in Hungarian) or 
Banat (in German, Serbian and Romanian), clearly from the German word Banat (banate 
in English).1 Nevertheless, the terms Bánát/Bánság and banatus Temesiensis were not used 
in the Middle Ages, for the simple reason that this political and administrative formation 
was created only in the early 18th century: Consequently, it is much more correct to use 
the term Danube-Tisa-Mureș Region when referring to the area in question.

In contrast with the term Bánát/Bánság, the designation Temesköz is to be found in 
medieval documents. This term, however, referred only to the smaller, fladand section 
of the Danube-Tisa-Mureș Region, and did not incorporate the south-eastern moun­
tainous part (today: Banatul Montan) of the area in question. Between the 1030s and 
the middle of the 16th century7 this region never existed as a separately governed admin­
istrative unit within the Hungarian Kingdom, but constituted an organic part of the 
realm, first in the form of royal and later as noble counties.2
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The Danube-Tisa-Mureș Region came, 
in all probability, under the rule of Saint 
Stephen, in 1028, when the monarch’s mil­
itary leader, Csanád subdued Ajtony, then 
lord of this territory.3 This change of rule 
allowed the spread of Latin Christianity 
in the region which, through Ajtony’s per­
son, had had contacts with the Greek 
Orthodox Church. Ajtony, the “Prince” of 
this territory had been baptized in Vidin 
between 1002 and 1020, presumably in the 
first, rather than the second decade of the 
11th century, and founded a Greek monastery 
in his residence (Marosvár) for the Basilian 
monks, which was under the protection of 
St. John the Baptist. Nevertheless, Ajtony, 
as the Greater Legend of Bishop Gerald states, 
was very imperfect in the Christian faith.

Immediately after Csanád’s victory over 
Ajtony, a bishopric was organized around 
Marosvár (or Csanádvár, as it was named 
from this time on), whose borders coincided 

Figure 1 : Counties in the Dan ube-Ti sa-Mureș 
Region in the late 15* century

with those of the Danube-Tisa-Mureș Region. Certain territories to the north of the River 
Mureș also belonged to the bishopric of Csanád since the archidiaconatus ultramor- 
isyensis and a part of the archidiaconatus Orodiensis were also included in the bishopric 
of Csanád. Saint Gerald, an Italian later to be murdered by the mob during the pagan 
uprising in 1046, became the first bishop of Csanád in 1030. Gerald had hitherto lived 
in the western part of the realm in the forest of Mount Bakony as a hermit, but after 
Ajtonys’s defeat he was invited by the monarch to act as the first bishop of Csanád.4

From the 1030s until its fall to the Ottomans, Csanád, whose bishops were the suffra­
gans of the archbishop of Kalocsa, had been the ecclesiastical center of the Danube-Tisa- 
Mureș Region. Two chapter houses stood in the city: one, dedicated to Saint George, was 
a cathedral chapter and functioned as an outstanding place of authentication, while the other, 
placed under the protection of the Holy Redeemer, was a collegiate chapter. The Benedictine 
monastery in Csanád originated in the age of Árpád and was dedicated to the Holy Mary. 
By a papal decree, the possessions of this monastery were donated to the bishopric in 
1493, while the church of the abbey was awarded to the Franciscans. The hospital of the 
town is mentioned in the early 16th century. Two parish churches stood in Csanád: one 
was dedicated to the Holy Spirit and is mentioned by a charter from 1412, whereas the other 
was under the protection of Saint Elizabeth and was first referred to in 1399.

From the point of view of ecclesiastical administration, the territory of the bish­
opric of Csanád in the Later Middle Ages, was divided into smaller units, called archdea­
conries (archidiaconatus), as was the case throughout the realm. Unfortunately, it is unclear 
when these archdeaconries emerged exactly. According to an earlier assertion, the archdea-
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Figure 2: Dioceses of the Hungarian Kingdom 
in the 11th century

confies of the Danube-Tisa-Mureș Region 
were formed in the first half of the 11th cen­
tury. This opinion was based on the fact that, 
on the one hand, the Greater Legend of 
Gerald mentioned seven scholarly monks, 
who were also (arch)deacons,5 and who, 
obeying the king’s order, went to help Gerald 
to Christianize the people in the Danube- 
Tisa-Mureș Region, and, on the other hand, 
H^-century documents inform us, indeed, 
about the existence of seven archdeaconries 
in this territory.

In my opinion, even a cursory glance 
at the years in which these archdeaconries 
appeared first in written sources proves con­

vincingly that the smaller units of the bishopric of Csanád were formed much later than the 
first half of the 11th century. In this respect it is equally important to remark that these 
institutions of medieval Htingarian ecclesiastical organization had come into being in other 
parts of the realm, as a result of a long development, by the end of the 12th century:

A rchidiacona tus ultramorisyensis : 1285 ;
A rchidiaconatus Orodiensis : 1288 ;
Archidiaconatus de Keve: 1288, after 1329 it was named Archidiaconatus Toruntaliensis\
A rchidiaconatus Carasowiensis : 1285 ;
A rchidiaconatus Chanadiensis : 1333 ;
Archidiaconatus Timisiensis: 1322 ;
Archidiaconatus de Sebus:\334.b

It should be remembered at this point that the years indicated above refer either to 
the archdeaconry’ itself or to its first archdeacon (archidiaconus). To put it another way; 
they indicate only the terminus ante cjunn of the establishment of a certain archdeaconry. 
Although the exact date of their emergence is unknown, it can be stated for sure that 
the archdeaconries were named after the church or the seat of their leading clergyman.

The fact that the bishopric of Csanád was divided into seven archdeaconries as early 
as the first half of the 14th century’ is proved both by the charters issued by the cathedral 
chapter of Csanád, since they list the different archdeacons by name, and by the papal tithe 
register from the years 1332-1337. It is important to note that the territory’ of these archdea­
conries, with the exception of Csanád, more or less coincided with that of the counties, 
the secular administrative units of the medieval Kingdom of Hungary. In the High and 
Later Middle Ages, as was mentioned above, the following counties existed in the Danube- 
Tisa-Mureș Region: Keve, Krassó, Ternes, Torontál, and the southern parts of the coun­
ties of Arad/Arad and Csanád which lay on the left bank of the River Maros.7

In connection with the cathedral chapters, it is worth recalling that although these 
ecclesiastical institutions of the medieval Kingdom of Hungary’ had already appeared 
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Figure 3: The archdeaconries of the bishopric 
of Csanád. Reconstruction has been made on 
the basis of the tithe register from 1332-1337 

by Tivadar Ortvay

in written sources by the end of the 11th cen­
tury, they had not become separate bodies 
with property of their own before the mid- 
12th century. Around the 1150s, the wealth 
of the cathedral began to be divided between 
the bishop and the chapter. Cathedral chap­
ters, unlike collegiate chapters, were locat­
ed at (archi)episcopal seats and served as 
advisory bodies to the (arch(bishops and 
also helped them in the administration of 
their dioceses. Besides these important func­
tions, cathedral chapters, together with 
collegiate chapters and some convents - 
mostly belonging to the Benedictine and 
Premonstratensien order - acted as places 
of authentication (loca credibilia), replac­
ing in Hungary the notaries public in other 
parts of medieval Europe. At the head of 
the chapter stood theprepositus, and its main 
dignitaries were the custos, the lector and the
cantor. The turn of the 12th and 13th centuries brought a very important change: the 
archdeacons left their original seats, moved to the episcopal centers and became ordinary 
members of the cathedral chapters.8

Thus, the archidiaconus Temesiensis appeared as a member of the cathedral chapter 
of Csanád; his activity as canoni eus of this institution had been testified by charters 
since 1322. On the basis of the papal tithe register from 1332-1337 it can be stated 
that the arclndiaconatus Temesiensis had the largest territory among the archdeaconries 
of the diocese of Csanád. The archdeaconry in question was referred to with various 
names in this important document: arclndiaconatus Temesiensis; ~ de medio Temisy; — de 
medio lymisy Burza; — inter Ternes et Borza; — inter Bursa/Burza et Times/lymes; — in medio 
duorum fluviorum Ternes; — inter fluvios Tymisi; and its priests were named as sac er dot es 
ex ista parte Tymisi. This large archdeaconry7 was divided into three districts. They were 
as follows: “a Temesen innen levő alesperesi kerület” (ex ista parte Timisi), that lay the 
hither side of River Ternes; “a Ternes és a Borza közt levő alesperesi kerület” (de medio 
lymisy Burza/inter Ternes at Borza) that was bordered by the rivers Ternes et Borza; and 
“a két Ternes közti alesperesi kerület” (in medio duorum fluviorum Ternes), being embraced 
bv the two former districts and located, in fact, between the rivers Ternes and Bega.

The arclndiaconatus Temesiensis was not only the largest of the archdeaconries of the 
bishopric of Csanád, but it also was the most populous. According to Ortvav’s identi­
fication and estimation 86 settlements existed on its territory, of which Temesvár seems 
to be the richest place.9 According to a charter issued by Pope Boniface IX in 1391, 
the annual income of the archidiaconus Temesiensis was one hundred florins.10 This was 
a considerable amount, exactly half of the income of the provost of the cathedral chap­
ter of Csanád, and was equal to the income of the lector of the same chapter house.11
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Figure 4: Archdeaconries of medieval Hungary. Reconstructed by Gyula Kristó on the basis of 
the tithe register from 1332-1337.

II. The town of Temesvár in the Middle Ages

T
emesvár fell to the Ottoman Turks in 1552. This marked the end of the medieval 
history of the town, which can be studied with the help of written sources from 
the 1150s. The attention of the Hungarian kings first turned towards Temesvár, 
the medieval precursor of present-day Timișoara, in the early 14th century when the entire 
realm was virtually controlled by the ‘Tittle kings". This led Charles I to seek a tempo­

rary residence here.12 The monarch paid his first visit to Temesvár, in all probability, in 
1315, and had his royal residence there only for a couple of years. Since Temesvár did 
not have the advantage of a central geographical location, the royal court moved to 
Visegrád, situated in the middle of the realm, in 1323. Its departure did not favor the 
further development of Temesvár.

In the 1360s Louis I launched a very’ active Balkans policy. This clearly increased 
the role of the comes Temesiensis and the importance of Temesvár, the favourable geo­
graphical location of which led to its serving as the “gateway” to the Balkans. Louis I 
occupied Vidin in Bulgaria in 1365 and appointed a ban there to administer the affairs 
of the newly created Bulgarian banate of Vidin, whose jurisdiction extended not only over 
Vidin, but also over those Hungarian casdes which were located next to the banate of 
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Vidin.13 These castles, among which Temesvár was the most significant, provided mili­
tary protection for the banate of Vidin. After the fall of the bante in 1369, the king trans­
ferred the authority of the former ban of Vidin to the cornes Temesiensis, who thereby became 
one of the most powerftil dignitaries of the realm.

The greatest obstacle to the development of the town was that the overwhelming 
Turkish victory at Nicopolis in 1396 resulted in Temesvár and the region around it becom­
ing the permanent target of Ottoman onslaughts. Consequently, by the early 15th cen­
tury, Temesvár assumed the role of a border castle. This evidently hindered its urban devel­
opment.

Temesvár is referred to in mediaeval charters as villa, oppidum and civitas. Unfortunately, 
no documents that contain lists of the franchises of the hospites/cives of Temesvár do appear 
to have survived from the medieval period. However, indirect evidence clearly reveals 
that the town enjoyed the right to hold weekly fairs, and the daily life of Temesvár was 
directed by the town council, consisting of the iudex (Hungarian: bíró} and the iurati cives 
(Hungarian: esküdt polgárok}. The first iudex was mentioned in written documents in 
1390, and was called Mychael dictus Poztos. At present, only two charters are known to 
have been issued by the town council prior to 1552, one in 1498, and the other in 
1523. Temesvár cannot be regarded as a royal free town since its autonomy was seriously 
restricted by the comes and the vicecomes Temesiensis, who had their seats in the town.

The citizens of Temesvár are referred to in medieval charters as cives et hospites. The 
hospites de Themeswar were first mentioned in 1341. Unfortunately, there are only spo­
radic data as to the names and professions of the citizens and the social structure and eth­
nic composition of the town. Various data concerning urban life and the geographical 
location of the town, convincingly suggest that the hospites, and the inhabitants of Temesvár, 
were preponderantly Hungarians until the mid-16th century; “Latin” and German 
guests did not play an important role in the development of medieval Temesvár.

However, a major shift occurred in the ethnic composition of the population of the 
Ternes region as a result of the regular Ottoman onslaughts that began in the late 14rh 
century, and the migration and settlement of new inhabitants following the Ottoman dev­
astation. Many of those Hungarians who had survived the brutal Ottoman raids migrat­
ed to the central parts of the realm, and, from the early 15th century on, a large num­
ber of Serbs and Romanians arrived to replace them. The immigrants continued to use 
the original Hungarian place-names in this area, but obviously adapted them to their own 
language, as is shown by an analysis of the Turkish state-tax returns from the late 16th cen­
tury; The above changes that took place in the “Banat” in the Late Middle Ages also 
had an impact on the ethnic make-up. of the town of Temesvár itself. Nevertheless, the 
first Turkish state-tax return (defter} produced in 1554 proves that the Hungarians still 
constituted the majority of the inhabitants of the town (numbering around 4000 at 
that time) even two years after its fall to the Turks.14



246 « Transylvanian Review * Vol, XXII, Supplement No. 4 (2013)

III. The ecclesiastical institutions of medieval Temesvár

T
emesvár was the original center of the archidiaconatus Temesiensis, which was later 
divided into several smaller districts.15 In connection with the evolution of the Hungarian 
ecclesiastical organization, it is a well-known fact that the priest of the baptismal 
church, situated in the 11th century in the castle of the count (comes comitatus), had become 
archdeacon by the 12th century. Therefore we have good reason to suppose that the church 

of the archidiaconus Temesiensis stood in the early comital castle of Temesvár. Unfortunately, 
the exact site of this castle is not known yet; consequently, it is unclear where this church was 
erected and to whom it was dedicated. Following from the fact that the archdeacon moved 
to Csanád and became member of the cathedral chapter around the turn of the 12th and 
13th centuries, a possible connection may be assumed between the church of the archdea­
con and that of Saint George, mentioned first in 1323: witli the departure of the archdea­
con, his abandoned church might have been transformed into a parish church. Nevertheless, 
the location of Saint George’s church seems to contradict this hypothesis, since it stood 
not in the casde, but in the territory of the town itself.

The localization of the archdeacon’s church draws attention to the situation that the scarci­
ty and sporadic nature of written documents together with the lack of archaeological 
explorations constitutes the greatest obstacle to the clarification of the ecclesiastical institu­
tions of medieval Temesvár. It is also a problem that, although several visual sources survived 
from the later period, primarily from the 18th centurv, they do not provide proper information 
on the location of the parish churches, convents and hospitals. Only the site of the parish 
church dedicated to Saint George can be identified with certainty.16 This church, eventual­
ly demolished in 1913-14, had been converted after 1552 into a mosque and survived the 
liberation of Temesvár by the Habsburg imperial troops under the command of Eugene 
of Savoy in 1716. Following the expulsion of the Ottomans, the ruined mosque/church 
had been donated to the Jesuits, who came into its possession in 1718. Thev renovated 
the old church and chose a new patron saint: from this time on, the church stood under 
the protection of Holy Marv; The Jesuits only used this church for a short period, as in 
1754 they started to build a new one. Nevertheless, they had run out of money and soon 
afterwards even the order itself was dissolved in Hungary; their church devolved upon the 
town and was used after 1806 as the church of the Catholic seminarv.17

It seems that at least two parish churches - one dedicated to Saint George, another 
to Saint Eligius - stood in the town. The former first appeared in written documents 
in 1323, while the latter was mentioned only in 1394.18 A parish priest of the town 
was referred to as early as the 1330s in the papal tithe register from 1332-37, but, 
unfortunately, nothing is known about his affiliation, since the name of the parish church 
was not recorded by the tithe collectors. The papal tithe register preserved four records 
about Temesvár from 1332-35, and these might refer to one and the same priest. All 
records name him Johannes., twice he was referred to—without indicating the church 
he belonged to—as plebanus, once as canonicus, once as decanus, and once without anv 
qualification, i.e. only by his name. The register also contains the amount of the tax 
Johannes paid as papal tithe.19

The parish church(es) of Temesvár appear again in the sources only in the late 14th 
and early 15th century. These documents inform us about a situation in which the 
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church dedicated to Saint Eligius functioned as the main parish church of Temesvár. Until 
recently, it was assumed that the main parish church of the town was dedicated to 
Saint George, but a charter issued in 1402 indisputably reveals that the main parish church 
stood under the protection of Saint Eligius, Bishop of Noyon.20

This patron saint is rather surprising as the parish church in Temesvár was the only 
one in the medieval Kingdom of Hungary which was erected in honor of Eligius, one 
of the most popular saints of France, whose feast was universally celebrated in North- 
Western Europe. Eligius (t 660) was primarily the saint of goldsmiths and metalwork­
ers. On the basis of the fact that Eligius was the patron saint of one of the churches of 
Temesvár, it has been argued that the town had a Walloon colony. However, I find it very 
doubtful that there was a Walloon colony in Temesvár, for the simple reason that the first 
reference to the patrocinium of St. Eligius is rather late (1394). Apart from this, the parish 
church in Temesvár was the only one in medieval Hungary to have had St. Eligius as 
its patron saint, although there were several urban type settlements in the realm where 
Walloon hospites lived in great numbers.21

In my opinion it is the Angevin period of the history of Temesvár in which the ven­
eration of St. Eligius originates. Among the secular and ecclesiastical lords of the royal 
court were several Italians from Naples. These Italians might have had a role in spread­
ing the cult of St. Eligius in Hungary. Given the fact that a hospital dedicated to St. Eligius 
stood in Naples in the early 14th century, it can be stated that Eligius was a popular saint 
in that town as well.22 It is also worth mentioning that Charles I established a Franciscan 
monastery in nearby Lipova which was dedicated to his uncle, St. Louis, Bishop of Toulouse. 
St. Louis, whose cult spread very quickly in Hungary; was canonized in 1317.23 These facts 
may suggest that the veneration of St. Eligius in Temesvár might have also been spread 
either by Charles I himself or by someone else belonging to his court.

The charter issued in 1402 informs us about a very particular situation. Besides refer­
ring to the church of St Eligius as the main parish church of Temesvár, this document 
also lists several other ecclesiastical institutions of the town. Among them were two 
churches and two chapels: “...parochialis ecclesia sancii Eligii de Temesvár, cum sancii Georgii 
ei sancii Martini ecclesiis ac sancie Marie nec non sancie Margarete capellis eidem parochiali 
ecclesie canonice annexis..”W\ú\ the exception of the churches, dedicated to Saint George 
and Saint Eligius, these ecclesiastical institutions had not appeared in the sources before 
the 1400s, and documents from the 15th and early 16th century did not mention them 
either. Consequently, the problem concerning the legal position and location of a third 
(parish)church(?), dedicated to Saint Martin, as well as the place and type of the 
chapels, dedicated to Holy Mary and Saint Margaret, is impossible to be clarified.24

It was also a new phenomenon that the papal charters from the late 14th and early 15th 
century preserved precious pieces of information on the parish priests of the church of 
Saint Eligius. More than half a dozen parish priests appear in the documents from the 
period between 1394 and 1406. These clerics are referred to by name and their other dig­
nities are also listed. In most of the cases, they were canons of other chapter houses (Csanád, 
Arad, Eger etc.), and one document even reveals that the maximum yearly income of the 
parish priest of the church of St Eligius was 120 florins. Sometimes, depending.on their 
other dignities, the parish priests of St Eligius’ church enjoyed only part of this sum. Late 
14th-century charters prove that the parish priests even owned landed estates; a certain Jacobus 
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plebanus de Themeswar got involved, for instance, in a law-suit in the early 1390s in con­
nection with several possessions, located in the territory of the county ofTemes.25

It happened on 25 October 1400 that, in order to augment the reputation of the church 
of Saint Eligius, Pope Boniface IX granted indulgence to those who visited this church 
on special holidays. These holidays coincided with those which were designated by 
Pope Boniface IX to the parish church of Csanad, dedicated to Saint Elizabeth, on 20 
February of the same year. Nevertheless, a supplication submitted to the pope on 24 January' 
1429 demonstrates that the parish church of Saint George had become independent again. 
The fact that its parish priest, Blaise appears alone in the supplication, which was sub­
mitted in the interest of his ordination, may support this assertion.26

In contrast with the Benedictines and the Cistercians, the Dominicans had a convent 
in Temesvár. This friary' was mentioned first in 1323. The church of this convent stood 
under the protection of St. Ladislas, King of Hungary; The fact that with the exception 
of Temesvár and Erdsomlyo/V rsac no Dominican friaries were to be found in the Danube- 
Tisa-Mureș Region gives a special importance to the convent founded in Temesvár.27 After 
1323, with the exception of one case, no mention was made of this convent in the 
sources until the early 1530s.28 Thomas Botka or Bathka, a famous Dominican friar, seems 
to have served for a while in the convent of Temesvár. This may explain why he bought 
a vineyard, named “Barát pariaga” for the Dominican convent in Temesvár around 
1480. Despite their former agreement concerning the first vintage, a quarrel arose between 
Botka and the Dominican friars of Temesvár. This affair is of importance for us because 
it proves the functioning of the Dominican convent in Temesvár in the late 15th century; 
and serves as a link between the first and last mention of the friary' in question. Botka’s 
activity is also of interest for us from another point of view: he was appointed to the 
priorship of Saint Nicholas’ convent of Târgoviște, Wallachia in 1496. To top it all, he 
became the lector of this convent in the same year, and he also acted as vice-vicar of Master 
Vincent in Wallachia. After a short period of service in Targoviște, Botka was appointed 
Bishop of Moldavia in the fall of 1497; his consecration took place on 28 October 1497.29

There is convincing evidence for the existence of another cloister from the year 1405. 
Though the charter does not name the order to which the monastery' belonged, on the basis 
of the patron saint, the Virgin Mary; it may be assumed that it was a Franciscan friary. 
The fact that the Franciscans had many convents in this region, and that thev were great­
ly favored by the members of the Angevin dynasty’ further supports this contention.30

The exact location of the Dominican and Franciscan friary' is unknown yet. Nevertheless, 
it may be supposed that they stood in the suburbs. This follows not only from our 
general knowledge, concerning the location of mendicant convents, but also from the 
fact that visual sources from the 18th century' (e.g. the town map drawn by Mattheus 
Seutter in 1718) indicate churches in the territory' of both Nagy Palánk and Kis Palánk.

From a supplication submitted to Pope Eugene IV in 1433, we learn that there were 
two hospitals in Temesvár. One, Sanctus Spiritus, was in the territory' of the town, and was 
established by the citizens of Temesvár, while the other, Decent ntiliunt militum, stood out­
side the town. The latter hospital was founded by the widow of Pipo Ozorai, count of 
Ternes (1404-1426).31 Although the surviving documents do not reveal the exact date 
of the establishment of the hospitals, in the case of the one associated with Barbara Ozorai,
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1 ernes var 1718-han.
(Egykorú tcrkép nyomén.)

\ A város. - K. A várkastély — C. Ki* Palánk. — D Nagy Palánk - E Nagy ürbáx. 
T. Katonai gyakorlótér.

Figure 5: The town map drawn by Mathheus Seutter

an early IS^-century foundation is highly probable, while the origins of the other hos­
pital should go back to a much earlier time. The two hospitals had functioned independently 
from each other for a while, but, according to the above-mentioned supplication, they 
were united around 1433. At that time Benedictus Zondi was the headman of the hospi­
tals who requested the pope to confirm the unification of the two hospitals.

As demonstrated above, by the early 16th century’ a major shift had occurred in the eth­
nic composition of the population from the Ternes region as a result of the regular Ottoman 
onslaughts, which also had an impact on the ethnic make-up of the town of Temesvár 
itself. It suffices here to refer to only one example. Francesco Griselini, an 1 S^-century 
traveller, natural scientist and historian of the “Banat” stated that Pál Kinizsi, as comes 
Temesiensis after his triumphant campaign in Serbia in 1481, brought some 50.000 Serbians 
to Hungary upon his return, whom he settled around Temesvár (perhaps in the suburbs 
of the town).32 However, no indisputable documents and archaeological findings are known 
that prove the existence of Greek Orthodox churches in Temesvár prior to 1552.
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Abstract
The Bishopric of Csanád/Cenad and the Ecclesiastical Institutions of 

Medieval Temesvâr/Timișoara

In the first pan of the paper the author investigates the ecclesiastical organization of the bish­
opric of Csanád/Cenad, which covered in the Middle Ages, more or less, the territory' of the Danube - 
Tisza/Tisa-Maros/Murcș Region. According to charters issued by the cathedral chapter of 
Csanád/Cenad and the papal tithe register from the years 1332-37, seven archdeaconries existed in 
the territory' of the diocese in question, among which the archidiaconatus Temesiensis was the largest 
and most populous. In the second pan of the paper, after a brief survey of the history' of the 
toyvn, the author investigates the question of the ecclesiastical institutions (parish churches, 
mendicant convents, hospitals) of medieval Temesvâr/Timișoara.
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